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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DONALD MERCER,
Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo. 1:14¢ev-01368 CRC)

INTER-CON SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.,

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff Donald Mercer was fired from his job asecurityguardfor InteCon Systems,
Inc., a private security firmfor responding too slowlip an alarm in &tate Departmentuilding.
Mercer alleges that Int&€eonterminated him in violation dhe company’scollective bargaining
agreementvith his union and thaheunion breached its duty of fair representation by not
contesing the terminatiorthrough a grievancelnte-Con moves to dismiss Mercer’'s sugddause
he did not fileit within the sixmonth statute of limitationapplicable tasuch*hybrid” actionsby
anemployee againdtoth his employer and unidnThe Court agregbat Mercer’s suit is time
barred andavill grant the motion to dismiss.

l. Background

The following facts are drawn from Mercedmended emplaintandaretaken as true in
evaluatinginter-Con’s motion. Mercer worledfor InterConas a Security Officer at the U.S.
Department of Statieom 2006 until April 2013.Am. Compl. {1 5, 7, 10Inter-Con has a
collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) withe union representints security workers-the
Security, Police, and Fire Professiaaf America (“SPFPA3-of which Mercer was a member.

Id. 11 3, 49, 540ne dayin February 2013, Mercer received a call to respond to an alarm in a

! Inter-Con’s motion includes several other bases for dismissal, but the Court need not meach the
becausdt finds that Mercer'suit is timebarred.
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building under his responsiliif. 1d. 1 12. Because Mercer did not have the building’s elevator
key, he contacted another officer who had oide [ 13-14. It took Mercer approximately 30
minutes to obtain the key from his colleaguehe was eating lunch at the timend go to the
alarm site.ld. 11 14, 16-17 After the alarm was resolvetivo of Mercers supervisors asked him
to write a statement explaining the delay, which he &idff18-21. Mercer then went on a
previously-approved vacationd. 1 24.

When he returned to workjercerwas escorted from the buildindd. 1 25, 28. One of
Mercer’'ssupervisors, Justin Beekhuis, told him he could not return to work ursgreed to meet
with an investigative panel regarding his delayed response to the alaadwasethim to make an
appointment withthe panelmmediately. Id. 1 26,29. Mercer attemptedinsuccessfully, to
contact Beekhuis about when the panel would meet and did not receive any communicetions fr
the panel itself.ld. 1 30. On April 19, 2013, InteCon sent Mercer a letter instructing him to
contact Beekhuisld. 1 31. Mercer attempted to do sbut Beekhuis never responddd. On
April 26, 2013, Inter€on fired Mercer for jokabandonmentld. 332 Mercerobjected to his
termination believing that InterCon had violated the CBA by failing to provide hmith a written
notification of the reason for his suspension, a disciplinary hearing, or union reatiesed. 1
54-55, 59-63. HargedSPFPAto file a grievance, but his uniosapresentative refusedd. 11 56-
55. Mercer filed this lawsuit on Augst 11, 2014, some 16 months after his termination.

. Standard of Review

To overcome &ederal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, “a complaint
must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claimfttheglisplausible on

its face.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly,

2 Mercer lists April 26, 2013 as the date of his termination in one paragraph of his amended
complaint,_id. 1 33, but April 19, 2013 in another, id. 1 41. The Qaliruse the later date.



550 U.S. 544, 57@®007)). Facial plausibility entails “factual content that allows the court @ dra
the reasonable inference that the defehdalmble for the misconduct allegedld. While the
court “must take all of the factual allegations in the complaint as true,” legal comsltisouched
as a factual allegation” do not warrant the same deferddcgciting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555

[11.  Analysis

Mercer'samendedcomplaintalleges two claims against It€on: (1) a common law claim
for “detrimental reliance,” more commonly known as promissory estoppel, and (2atov of
Section 30Df the Labor Management Relations Act (‘LMRA”). The Court discusses eaich cl
below.

A. Promissory Estoppeind Section 301 Preemption 8tate LawClaims

Mercerbases hipromissory estoppelaim on the allegation that Int€on promised to
convene an investigatory panel hearing before he gealthe working bufired him without
informing him of whether one haxtcurredor allowing him to appear before it. Am. Conff.
36—-47 Promissory estoppel is a state law claim, batisn 301 of th& MRA providesfederal
jurisdictionover lawsuits regarding violations of CBASee29 U.S.C. 8§ 185. The Supreme Court
has made clear that “the preemptive force of § 301 is so powerful as to displeslg anti state
cause of action ‘for violation of contracts between an employer and a laborzatganii. . .
notwithstanding the fact that state law would provide a cause of action in the absg3tH ¢f

Franchise Tax Bd. v. Constr. Laborers Vacation Trust, 463 U.S. 1, 23 (1983). Consequently,

Mercer’s promissory estoppel claim is preeeapby Section 301 of the LMRA and must be
dismissed

B. Hybrid Section 301/Fair Representation Claims

When an employee sues his employer for breach of a CBA, he is “[o]rdinarilgquired

to attempt to exhaust any grievance or arbitration remedie&lptbin the collective bargaining



agreement.”DelCostello v. Inf Bhd. of Teamsters, 462 U.S. 151, 163 (1983) (citing Republic

Steel Corp. v. Maddox, 379 U.S. 650 (1965)n exception exists whean employealso alleges

thathis unionbreached its duty of fair representatiarthe grievance or arbitration procedutd.

at 163-65. HereMercer contends that SPFPA breached its duffaitipg to bring a grievancat

all despite his requests. Am. Comfiff. 56-53; PIl.’s Opp’n at 8-9In alleging both that Inte€on

violated theCBA and that the uniobreached its duty of fair representation, Mercer makes a

“hybrid’” Section301and fair representation claim because “the two claims are inextricably

interdependent.’'DelCostellg 462 U.S. at 165An employee in this situatiomfay, if he chooses,

sueone defendant and not the otheds-Mercer hadonehere by namingnly Inter-Con as a

defendant—but “the case he must prove is the same whether he sues one, the other,ldr both.”
Hybrid actionsare governed by a sixonth statute of limitationsSeeDelCostellg 462

U.S.at 155, 169-72; George v. Local Union No. 639, Int'l| Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,

Warehousemen &lelpers of Am., AFECIO, 100 F.3d 1008, 1012, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (“hybrid

section 301/duty of fair representation claims are governed byramsi#i statute of limitations”);

Montgomery v. Omnisec Int'l Sec. Servs., Inc., 961 F. Supp. 2d 178, 184 (D.D.C. 2013) (citing

N’'Diaye v. Commc’ns Workers of Am., No. 12-1731, 2013 WL 2462110, at *3 (D.D.C. June 7,

2013)). This period “begin[s] to run ‘from the later of (1) when the employee discovendher i
reasonable exercise of diligence should have disedy¢he acts constituting the alleged [breach]
by the employer, or (2) when the employee knows or should have known of the last achidsytake
the union which constituted the alleged breach of its duty of fair representatioadtg®nery,

961 F. Supp. 2d at 184iting Watkins v. Commc’ns Workers of Am., Local 2336, 736 F. Supp.

1156, 1159 (D.D.C. 1990)). Hereater-Con fired Mercer on April 26, 201& the latestAm.
Compl. 11 33, 41. Mercer did not file this suit until August 11, 2014, nearly 16 months later.

While the amended complaint does not specify exactly when Mercer learned ofrfviation or



SPFPAs decision noto contest it his opposition does not dispute Inter-Con’s argument that he did
not file this action until nearly sixteen montiféer the relevant statute of limitatiopsriodbegan

to run. SeeColeman v. Johnson, 19 F. Supp. 3d 126, 134 (D.D.C. 2014) (citing Hopkins v.

Womeris Div., Gen. Bd. of Global Ministries, 238 F. Supp. 2d 174, 178 (D.D.C. 2002) (“It is well

understood in this Circuit that when a plaintiff files an opposition to a motion to dismiessiddr
only certain arguments raised by the defendant, a court may treat thaseatg that the plaintiff
failed to addess as conceded.”)).

Mercer argues thaaither than the sirmnonth periodthe District of Columbia’s thregear
statute of limitations for contract cases should apply. In doinglecer relies heavily on a D.C.
Circuit case with &ery similar factudbackground: a security guard who workedeateral
buildings sued his employer, a private compdayiolating its CBA bypunishinghim for failing

to respond t@n emergency in a timely mann&€ephas v. MVM, Inc., 520 F.3d 480, 483 (D.C.

Cir. 2008). But Mercer overlooks a critical difference between this caseCamthas The six

month statute of limitations did not apply@ephadecause the plaintiff onlyallegdd] a
straightforward breach of the CBA by his employer, not a hybrid claim” involsmgllegation of a
breach of the duty of fair representation by the ua®mvell. Id. at 489. Accordingly e statute

of limitations analysis itCephasioes not apply here and Mercer’s suit is babgthe sixmonth

statute of limitations for hybrid Section 301/fair representation actions



V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby

ORDERED thatDefendant’s Motion to Dismiss [Dkt. No. 18] GRANTED.
This is a final, appealable order.

SO ORDERED.

%z#W Z. g)/@c‘
CHRISTOPHER R. COOPER
United States District Judge

Date: March4, 2015
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